Stress levels, coping strategies and job satisfaction among health care assistants in

Ireland

Winifred Karanja

15039919

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

BA (Hons.) in Psychology

at the

National College of Ireland

March 2020

Psychology

Thesis Declaration Form

Submission of Thesis to Norma Smurfit Library, National College of Ireland

Student name: Winifred Karanja	Student number: 15039919
School: National College of Ireland	Course: Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in

Degree to be awarded: BA (Honours) Degree in Psychology **Title of Thesis**: Stress levels, coping strategies and job satisfaction among health care assistants in Ireland

One hard bound copy of your thesis will be lodged in the Norma Smurfit Library and will be available for consultation.

The electronic copy will be accessible in TRAP (http://trap.ncirl.ie/), the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository. In accordance with normal academic library practice all theses lodged in the National College of Ireland Institutional Repository (TRAP) are made available on open access.

I agree to a hard-bound copy of my thesis being available for consultation in the library. I also agree to an electronic copy of my thesis being made publicly available on the National College of Ireland's Institutional Repository TRAP.

Signature of Candidate: _____

For completion by the School: The aforementioned thesis was received by_____ Date: _____

This signed form must be appended to all hard bound and electronic copies of your thesis submitted to your school.

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to sincerely thank Alison, the administrator for the HCA & Carers Ireland page on Facebook for allowing me to post the survey on the group page. A massive thank you to all the HCAs participants who took their time to partake in the survey and make this study possible. You are amazing and what you do is cherished and valued by many.

I would also like to thank my supervisor, Dr Michelle Kelly. Your support, guidance and understanding throughout this entire process has been amazing. You made this seem so achievable.

Also, all the other lecturers of NCI and my classmates who have helped, supported and encouraged me during my entire course period, thank you for making me the psychology student I am today.

Lastly my family - my husband Sean and baby boy Cillian. Words cannot express the gratitude I have for you for giving up all that time we could have had together when I had to lock myself in the room to study or go to college. You have supported me, adjusted and picked me up when I felt I could not do it anymore and this is possible because of you. I hope I have made you proud and that its been all worthwhile. I love you!

Abstract

Background: Previous research in Ireland has highlighted the ever-increasing need of health care mainly due to an ageing population. Health care assistants (HCAs) are an important part of the health care task force that help meet this demand. However, they are not as researched as others such as nurses despite several problems that they may be facing. Objective: This study aims to investigate relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs. Method: The sample consisted of 137 participants selected using convenience sampling. They completed a demographics questionnaire and three others that measured perceived stress levels, coping strategies and job satisfaction respectively. Data was then entered in SPSS for analysis. Results: Analysis indicated that there were significant correlations between perceived stress and avoidant coping strategy and between perceived stress and job satisfaction levels. Only perceived stress score total was found to uniquely predict job satisfaction levels to a statistically significantly level. HCAs with a more dominant approach coping strategy were found to have lower levels of stress as compared to ones with a more dominant avoid coping strategy. There was no difference in job satisfaction levels in relation to either coping strategy. Conclusion: HCAs are a major part of the health care work force who are being faced with several issues affecting this line of occupation, namely stress levels, coping strategies and job satisfaction levels and so it is important to understand the relationship. The current study offers a glimpse at this relationship and how this can be used to improve their well-being and make the occupation more attractive for workers.

Table of Contents

Page

Title page1
Declaration form2
Acknowledgements
Abstract4
Introduction7
Stress
Job Satisfaction11
Coping
The Present Study16
Objectives, research questions and hypotheses17
Method18
Participants18
Measures19
The Perceived Stress Scale – 1420
The Brief Cope20
Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire21
Design22
Procedure23
Results26
Descriptive Statistics
Inferential Statistics27
Pearson Correlation

Multiple Regression
Independent Samples T-test
Discussion
Limitations
Implications of the present study for future study
Conclusion
References40
Appendices54
Appendix A: Message requesting for permission to post on the HCA & Carers Ireland page
Appendix B: Permission to post on the HCA & Carers Ireland page55
Appendix C: Information Sheet55
Appendix D: Consent Form56
Appendix E: Demographics questionnaire57
Appendix F: Perceived Stress Scale-14
Appendix G: Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire
Appendix H: Brief COPE Scoring Procedure
Appendix I: Facebook Post59
Appendix J: Debrief Sheet59

Introduction

Health care providers around the world are facing a challenge of being able to provide care to the increasing number of people who require it (Blendon & Desroches, 2003; Health Education England, 2015). A report by Wren et al., (2017) that was looking at the demand for healthcare in Ireland between 2015 - 2030 stated that due to continued rapid population growth, demand for health and social care is projected to increase across all sectors in the years to 2030. This includes demand for public and private hospitals, long-term and intermediate care, home care and GP visits. The report states the main cause for this projected population growth is due to an ageing population; and older adults tend to have greater healthcare demands than younger people due to diseases such as Alzheimer's where its' prevalence is very low at young age and then almost doubles with every five years of age after 65 years (WHO; US National Institute of Aging, 2011). As a result, the demand of the health service is exceeding the supply of health care workers (Ravenswood, Douglas & Teo, 2014), which is a contributing factor for increasing the workload of workers, especially health care assistants (HCAs) who are on the frontline of providing direct care to the people in need. The work of HCAs includes measuring patients' vitals, food preparation and giving, personal care concerns such as bathing, helping with mobility issues amongst others (Rakovski & Price-Glynn, 2010).

Currently in Ireland, there is a shortage of HCAs as reported on the Independent.ie by O'Regan (2018). The newspaper article states that staff shortages in services such as nursing homes worsen the A&E crisis by escalating hospital overcrowding and trolley gridlock._The article further reports that a review done in 2017 found that there was a high-level turnover and a high number of health care assistants' vacancies being advertised. This could be attributed to the job not being attractive enough for potential candidates due to factors like temporary contracts.

Other issues faced by health care assistants in Ireland, possibly impacting their job satisfaction levels and might explain the high turnover and why other suitable applicants are not entering this profession include; a lack of uniform standards in the private sector (which includes pay rates, employment terms and conditions), more admin work with limited time, insufficient training, lack of job security, no reimbursement for travel expenses or travel time lack of defined roles, promotion and career progression and many more (Healy, 2015; Vail, Bosley, Petrova & Dale, 2010; Spilsbury et al., 2010). These factors in addition to HCAs taking on tasks which are no longer desired by nurses could lead onto job stress and difficulty with coping that is associated with high workloads, low staffing levels and emotional strains of working with clients who have complex care needs (McVicar, 2003; -Estabrooks, Squires, Carleton, Cummings & Norton, 2015). This is problematic because not only does stress influence the health care assistant subjective experiences, physical consequences and behavioural changes, it may also affect the worker's ability to providing high quality care to his/her patients and how they perceive and deal with it, leading to preferred coping strategies (Koinis et al., 2015).

Stress

Cranwell-Ward and Abbey (2005) define stress as a physiological and psychological reaction that occurs either consciously or subconsciously in response to a perceived threat or undesirable experience beyond one's immediate ability to deal with the situation (p.28). This can be further described by Walter Cannon's fight-or-flight response theory of homeostasis in which he proposed that stress occurs when feelings of threat to the body place a physiological strain on its abilities hence causing an imbalanced state (McCarty, 2016). Some studies have argued that an increase in workloads is a precedent for an increase in stress (Dawson, Stasa, Roche, Homer & Duffield, 2014; Halpin, Terry & Curzio, 2017; Weiss & Lonnquist, 2017).

Work is seen as a major and important aspect of an individual's life. Studies such as Fryers, Melzer and Jenkins (2003) found that unemployment was one of the factors consistently associated with common mental disorders which comprises of depression and anxiety. Though employment is important for mental health, reports such as the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work report (2007) state that increases in trends of pace of work, high-skilled jobs, and increased need to know and be able to use information and communication technology could be putting more mental pressure on HCAs. According to Karasek₇ (1979), these trends can be regarded as stressors in a workplace setting which is a reaction to demands. As a result, this is also possibly linked with the prevalence of high levels of psychological distress seen in the working population (Hilton et al., 2008). As well as impacting mental health, other studies have also found stress to be associated with illnesses such as cardiovascular diseases (Backé, Seidler, Latza, Rossnagel & Schumann, 2011), type 2 diabetes (Heraclides, Chandola, Witte & Brunner, 2009) and obesity (Foss & Dyrstad, 2011). In addition to impacting employees' health and causing work-related illnesses if not managed properly, work-related stress has been stated to have a major effect on employees' performance and effectiveness at work (Teigen, 1994). The relationship of stress and performance is described by Tiegen as an inverted U where a little anxiety from time to time helps with task performance according to Yerkes-Dodson law. This goes on until the optimum level of arousal is reached after which it starts affecting performance negatively.

In terms of explanations for the causes of job-stress, the Karasek's job demand– control (D–C) model is a widely researched theory used to explain the relationship between job stress and the work environment (Karasek, 1979; Karasek & Theorell, 1991). The model states that stress is as a result of job demands (for example workload and pace) being high whilst job control and independent decision-making levels are low. Work overload happens when the work demands is more than the HCA's ability to complete the task (Clarke, 2001; D'Hondt, Kaasalainen, Prentice & Schindel Martin, 2011; Hertting, Nilsson, Theorell & Sätterlund Larsson, 2005). Clarke (2001) report a common finding of HCAs working under the constraint of low 'caregiver to patient' ratios with very few or limited resources within this workforce group. Low levels of job control as a stressor occur when the employees are unable or restricted in making decisions and managing their time whilst at work leading to a sense of helplessness and no power (Clarke, 2001; Gustafsson, Norberg & Strandberg, 2008; Hertting, Nilsson, Theorell & Sätterlund Larsson, 2005; Mininel, Baptista & Felli, 2011). The model was later revised to include emotional and psychological support from supervisors and colleagues (Cieslak, Knoll & Luszczynska, 2007). The inclusion of these two health outcomes is important as it supports two predictions: firstly, having support from supervisors and work colleagues can reduce the adverse effects that both high job demands and inability to make decisions have on the HCAs and secondly that high levels of psychological demands have a negative impact on health when the ability to make decisions is low (Mininel, Baptista & Felli, 2011).

Stress in health care assistants also may occur as a result of continuous interaction with the care recipients and their families/friends which can lead to a range of emotions such as anger, embarrassment, fear, and desperation and especially so when the problems have no solutions (Boumans & Landeweerd, 1996). Previous research has identified that experiencing work related stress or fatigue can have negative effects on the patients' satisfaction, the care being delivered due to errors occurring, decreased treatment adherence and lower levels of empathy towards patients (Drury, Craigie, Francis, Aoun & Hegney, 2013; Fortney, Luchterhand, Zakletskaia, Zgierska & Rakel, 2013). As a result, the symptoms of workrelated stress will not only affect the health of the HCA, but also impact the safety of the recipients of care. Other common stressors are as a result of conflicts between co-workers and other health professionals regarding residents' care, disagreements with supervisors, not being allowed to use all of one's potential, and being underpaid (Schwendimann, Dhaini, Ausserhofer, Engberg & Zúñiga, 2016). Stress at work may therefore result in more burnout which can be described as the inability of being unable to cope with emotional stress at work or feelings of fatigue and failure. As a result of high burnout, the HCA ends up being emotionally exhausted, having a feeling of lost work significance and accomplishment due to not receiving positive feedback hence a reduction in job satisfaction (Embriaco, Papazian, Kentish-Barnes, Pochard & Azoulay, 2007).

Job Satisfaction

Studies have indicated that high levels of stress are related with lower levels of job satisfaction and poor mental health in employees (Landsbergis, 1988; Cummins, 1990). Spector (1997) suggests that this is as a result of a mismatch between what one expects from their job and their actual working environments.

Previously, job satisfaction was regarded from a needs fulfilment perspective and whether it met the employee's physical and physiological needs such as pay (Spector, 1997). Spector (1997) mentions that job satisfaction is more focused on cognitive processes instead of the underlying needs. Job satisfaction can be also regarded as the difference between what an employee expects from their job versus what they get (Price, 2001). This could be in the form of advancement opportunities, salaries etc. as reported by Aiken et al. (2001) when reporting on job satisfaction findings on nurses from five countries.

One of these cognitive processes (Spector, 1997) is stress at work which, as mentioned above, has been reported to influence job satisfaction levels (Gray-Toft & Anderson, 1985; Sehlen et al., 2009; Nam et al., 2016) and is a very important factor in HCAs. A study by Schwendimann, Dhaini, Ausserhofer, Engberg and Zúñiga, (2016) which was investigating factors associated with high job satisfaction among care workers in Swiss nursing homes found that work stressors such as work conflict negatively correlated with job satisfaction. The high stress and low job satisfaction levels can be brought on by different factors including -the workplace environment not being conducive as reported by carers; that is, HCAs stated_that although they perceive their jobs as important, their management overworks, underpays and mistreats them (Diamond, 1992; Foner, 1995; Gass, 2005). They reported that they were mainly dissatisfied with staffing levels which due to shortage of workers, means they are overworked as well as high turnover of staff (Castle, Engberg, Anderson & Men, 2007).

Although HCAs have been a part of the caring team for a while now with the grade being introduced in Ireland in 2001 (HSE, 2018) and the profession representing a good proportion of the health care workforce, there is still a lack of policy and regulation regarding their role, job description and skill set as stated in the report. For example, when the HCA role first emerged, they were meant to perform non-nursing tasks and assist nursing staff. However, nowadays HCAs are the ones who provide most of the direct patient contact care (Bach, Kessler & Heron, 2008). This means that employers can change their job descriptions to match the organisations needs (Bach, Kessler & Heron, 2008). As a result, it may lead to increase in tension levels and poor working conditions for the workers for example due to occupational boundary disputes between HCAs and nurses (Bach, Kessler & Heron, 2012), and ultimately leads to poorer job satisfaction.

Despite HCAs being responsible for most of the care work, as mentioned (Bach et al.,2008), they are still subjected to poor working conditions and pay (Rakovski & Price-Glynn, 2010). Although low wages regularly result in HCAs devaluation of caring work (Berdes & Eckert, 2007) and perception of lower job status in the caring hierarchy as compared to other professions such as registered nurses (Bullock & Waugh, 2004), positive

factors such as being able to have a reciprocal relationship with recipients of care or being able to provide effective care may help mitigate the effect that low pay has on job satisfaction levels (Berdes & Eckert, 2007; Jones, 2001). This means that positive affective care should be encouraged among HCAs as it provides a sense of motivation and satisfaction by acting as an emotional 'currency' where other common promotional factors such as good wages, career advancement and other benefits are lacking.

In health care organisations, not only does job satisfaction matter for the patients being looked after by the health care workers, it also is related with work absenteeism, human relations and work organization as found by Duclay, Hardouin, Sébille, Anthoine and Moret, (2014) study on nurses and nurse assistants (HCAs). The study aimed to investigate the impact that staff absenteeism had on patient satisfaction using the care quality indicators such as ones for measuring patient satisfaction and are available in management reports. The study found that patient satisfaction related to relationships with staff was significantly and negatively correlated with the workers absenteeism and suggests that these absences cause more work for the remaining workers and as a result, a bigger workload. It states that these workloads could leave the workers overworked and they are then unable to cope with pressure more effectively. As a result, it suggests that for patients' satisfaction to be improved, managers must look for solutions in order to reduce absenteeism, avoid burnout, improve the workplace atmosphere and promote better coping skills.

Coping

It is important that the health and wellbeing of HCAs is promoted through positive coping strategies, since they are vulnerable to various stressors as a result of their challenging work environment. Coping can be described as the ability to adjust to demands when under stress (Lazarus & Folkman, 1984). Due to this, it may be an important factor of successful adaptation among health care assistants.

Although there has been a lack of agreement on the coping concept with most studies failing to test the best fit between conceptual dimensions and the data, two comprehensive strategies have been repeatedly identified by a number of coping measures: approach and avoidant coping strategies (Herman-Stabl, Stemmler & Petersen, 1995). Approach strategy involves seeking information and making conscious efforts to maintain or regain control (Curry & Russ, 1985), problem-focused coping (Compas, Malcarne & Fondacaro, 1988), arguing logic (Ebata & Moos, 1991) and problem solving (Glyshaw, Cohen & Towbes, 1989). Avoidant strategy on the other hand includes escape or distancing from problem, unhealthy self-soothing such as binge eating, numbing, compulsive behaviours or self-harm. (Dombeck, 2006).

A study by Schneider, Scales, Bailey and Lloyd (2010) that used participant observation where the researchers took on a HCA role to investigate areas such as: What motivates staff? What obstacles the face in order to provide good care do they face? What stressors they face and ways of coping? Ways in which staff wellbeing is promoted amongst others. The research found that the HCAs used a variety of stress management strategies to cope which included seeking support from others, escaping both physically by leaving the ward, taking a cigarette break and also emotionally, exercising, implying that they will turn to alcohol as well as desensitization which can be seen as a way of self-protection and use of irony, joking and talking about other things apart from the topic of concern.

Previous research indicates that the using of approach coping strategies helps lower the symptoms of fatigue or burnout within HCAs as opposed to engaging in behaviours such as avoidance and denial (Cheng, Kogan & Chio, 2012; Subramanian & Kumar, 2012). Studies also show that by using approach coping strategies, it reduces the impact that stress will have on the worker (Fortes-Ferreiera, Peiro, Gonzales-Morales & Martin, 2006) and also reduce staff turnover, improve well-being and directly impact patient-care positively (Koeske, Kirk & Koeske, 1993; Holton, Barry & Chaney, 2016).

Graham, Ballard and Sham (1997) study investigating carers' knowledge of dementia, their coping strategies and morbidity found that the carers who knew more about dementia experienced significantly lower levels of depression, but higher rates of anxiety compared to ones with lesser knowledge. The results showed that the carers' level of knowledge on dementia showed no relationship with their physical health. However, the more knowledgeable carers were more likely to have 'reduced expectations' of their dependants' abilities and make 'positive comparisons'; they were also more likely to feel competent and confident as caregivers hence reduced stress levels.

Overall, there has been limited research on coping in HCAs with most research focusing on other health care professions such as nurses although these findings might be applicable to HCAs also. Shiota (2006) suggests that by applying the right coping strategies, it will effectively lead to an increase in well-being and reduced stress levels. Organisations also can use the stress management guidelines laid by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) and have previously been used to assess good practice by acting as a benchmark. This includes; providing employees with achievable demands e.g. in relation to their workloads, giving employees 'control' where possible, providing adequate information and support, promoting positive relationships, ensuring that employees understand their role within the organization and lastly where there is need for change to ensure employees are engaged with and consulted (Schneider, Scales, Bailey & Lloyd, 2010). By workplaces addressing this, it will promote better working conditions and help in reducing factors that may increase poor coping strategies such as employee sickness caused by workplace stress as a result of increased workloads and low staffing levels. Although this evidence suggests that better coping strategies may result in lower levels of perceived stress and higher job satisfaction, more research is required to determine the potential effects of positive coping strategies outcomes of job satisfaction and stress in HCAs in Ireland.

The Present Study

To summarise, there has been a lot of research in the areas of stress, job satisfaction and coping strategies with studies reporting on different professions that involve unique circumstances which may present higher than usual stress levels, especially ones that involve direct human contact and quick decision-making skills. One of these professions is health care workers which also includes HCAs (Koinis et al., 2015). Most studies have researched the relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction among health-care providers in various areas such as physicians, radiographers and nurses (Sehlen et al., 2009; Jordan, Khubchandani & Wiblishauser, 2016). The results from these studies showed that stress correlated with lower job satisfaction and high stress levels negatively affected coping abilities and work performance respectively. However, very few studies have examined the relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs in Ireland; hence the need for this study.

Also, a report on projections of demand for healthcare in Ireland, 2015-2030 (Wren et al., 2017) reported a great unmet demand for acute healthcare services across all health sectors including hospitals, nursing homes and home care. This demand is meant to increase due to projected continued rapid population and an aging population. Unless measures are put in place to ensure that workforce planning and support is implemented, it will be difficult to meet this projected demand. As a result, it is important to research factors_-that result in burnout, stress that contributes to depression, anxiety and employee absence (Wittchen et al., 2011), as well as researching factors that may mitigate these effects, such as coping strategies. By researching these factors, it is hoped that evidence-based policy and interventions can be developed to attract more HCAs into the sector in Ireland.

Objectives, research questions and hypotheses

The main objective of this study is to look at the relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs. Considering previous research, the research aims of this current study will be to (1) investigate the relationship between perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction levels in HCAs, (2) determine if stress levels can predict outcomes on measures of job satisfaction among HCAs, and (3) determine if different coping strategies differentially effect outcomes on measures of stress and job-satisfaction.

Based on the above research questions, and by examining prior research, it is hypothesised that (1) there will be a significant relationship between perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs, (2) higher stress levels will predict lower job satisfaction among HCAs, and (3) there will be significant differences in levels of stress and job satisfaction between those with high versus low scores on a measure of coping.

Method

A research proposal was submitted to the National College of Ireland ethics committee to seek approval in order to run this study. Once this was granted, an email was sent to the administrator of the HCA & Carers Ireland group on Facebook requesting for permission to post on the group to invite members to partake in the study (see Appendix A). Once permission was granted by the administrator (see Appendix B), a post was put up on the group's Facebook page inviting participants to partake in it voluntarily. The post contained a link with the survey questionnaire that once completed by a participant, the answers would be automatically recorded collected through Google Forms.

Participants

The sample size for this study was 137 participants. This comprised of males (7.3%, n = 10) and females (92.7%, n = 127). The participants engaged with the study after reading the information sheet that contained details about the study (see Appendix C). The participants' ages ranged between 19 to 63 years (M = 41.89, SD = 11.469). The most frequent age was 48 and 55-year olds (7 participants each). Though all members of the group had to be health care assistants in Ireland, 129 (94.2%) participants were currently employed and paid to work as care assistants at the time of doing the study, whilst 8 (5.8%) participants were unemployed. The highest rate of participants worked 30 – 45 hours a week (51.1%) with most participants having worked in the occupation in the 0 – 5 years range (52.6%). More distributions of demographic variables are as seen in table 1 below.

	Frequency	Valid Percent
Gender		
	10	7.3
	127	92.7
Employment Status		
	129	94.2
	8	5.8
Length of time in occupation		
occupation	72	52.6
		18.2
		11.7
	24	17.5
Hours worked per week		
	11	8
	39	28.5
	70	51.1
	17	12.4
	Employment Status Length of time in occupation	Gender 10 127 Employment Status 129 8 Length of time in occupation 72 25 16 24 Hours worked per week 11 39 70

Table 1. Frequencies for the sample displaying each demographic variable (N = 137)

The participants were selected anonymously to partake in the study through convenience sampling method as posted on the HCA & Carers Ireland Facebook group. Though sharing of the study was encouraged and the original post boosted a few times to maximise exposure, no incentives were offered to encourage participation. The study used a cross-sectional design and all participants had to give informed consent and confirmed that they were aged over 18 years old before completing the questionnaires (see Appendix D).

Measures

The questionnaires used in this study for the purpose of measuring the variables of interest include: a demographics questionnaire, the Perceived Stress Scale-14 developed by Cohen and colleagues, Kamarck & Mermelstein (1983) to assess participant's perception of stressful situations, the Brief COPE (Carver, 1997) used to assess different ways in which

people respond to stress and lastly the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire (1967) used to measure employee's satisfaction (see Appendix E, F, G and H).

The demographics questionnaire that comprises of employment status, length of time in occupation, hours worked per week, gender and age were asked at the beginning to be able to analyse different factors that can influence the hypotheses.

The Perceived Stress Scale-14

The Perceived Stress Scale – 14 is a self-report that consists of 14 questions aiming to measure levels in which the participant has perceived as being stressful during the past month. For example, 'In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?'. This is by assessing how unpredictable, uncontrollable or overloaded they found their personal circumstances. Respondents rate themselves on the 5-point Likert scale that ranges from '0 - never to 4 - very often'. The questionnaire is scored by reverse scoring items number 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10 and 13 and then adding up all the 14 items' scores. The scores range from 0 to 56 with the higher scores indicating greater levels of perceived stress (see Appendix F).

The Perceived Stress Scale has shown high reliability and validity with Cronbach's Alphas scores ranging from .84 to .87 such as seen in the smoking cessation group that had a Cronbach's Alphas score of .86 (Cohen, Kamarck & Mermelstein, 1983). Test/retest reliability scores range between 0.55 to 0.85 (Cohen, Kamarck & Mermelstein, 1983).

The Brief COPE

The Brief COPE is a 28-item questionnaire comprising of 14 scales that measures how a respondent deals with stress using specific coping strategies. Each of the 14 scales contains 2 items. These scales are self-distraction, active coping, denial, substance use, use of emotional support, use of instrumental support, behavioural disengagement, venting, positive reframing, planning, humour, acceptance, religion, and self-blame. An example of a question includes 'I've been turning to work or other activities to take my mind off things'. The respondent is expected to rate themselves on the 5-point Likert scale that ranges from '(1 = I haven't been doing this at all to 4 = I've been doing this a lot)'.

Each of the 14 subscales are included into one of the two overarching coping styles: avoidant coping and approach coping to determine an individual's primary coping styles (see Appendix H). Avoidant Coping is characterised by the subscales of denial, substance use, venting, behavioural disengagement, self-distraction and self-blame and associated with poorer physical health among those with medical conditions. Compared to Approach Coping, Avoidant Coping is shown to be a less effective at managing anxiety and characterised by the subscales of active coping, positive reframing, planning, acceptance, seeking emotional support, and seeking informational support. Approach Coping is associated with more helpful responses to adversity, including adaptive practical adjustment, better physical health outcomes and more stable emotional responding ("Brief-COPE – NovoPsych Psychometrics", 2018).

Scoring is done by calculating total scores on each of the scale by summing up the items for each scale (see Appendix H). Total scores on each scale are between 2 to 8 with higher scores suggesting that the coping strategy is being used more. Scoring is not done by summing up the scores on all scales, only total scores for each individual scale. For example, total score for self-distraction is calculated by adding up the sup of item 1 and 19.

The Brief COPE has shown high reliability and validity with Cronbach's Alphas scores ranging from .50 to .97 such as found in a primary care sample that had a Cronbach's Alphas score of .68 (Finset, Steine, Haugli, Steen & Laerum, 2002). Test/retest reliability scores range between poor (0.05) to excellent (1) (Yusoff, Low & Yip, 2010).

Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire

21

The Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire (MSQ – short form) was created to assess employees job satisfaction. It comprises of 20 items which are divided into intrinsic and extrinsic job context items. The respondent selects from a 5-point Likert scale from 1 (very dissatisfied) to 5 (very satisfied) with questions such as, 'Ask yourself: How satisfied am I with this aspect of my job? - Being able to keep busy all the time'. Overall satisfaction total score is calculated by summing or averaging the scores, the lower the score, the lower the job satisfaction level and vice versa.

Validity of the short form can be deduced from the validity of the long form where studies such as Suleman & Hussain (2018) found it to averaging Cronbach's Alpha .86.

Design

This study used a cross-sectional research design as participants were selected based on the inclusion criteria of being health care assistants in Ireland and over 18 years of age. The study was conducted using a quantitative method. Once data was collected in Google forms and exported into excel, it was then imported and was analysed using IBM SPSS statistics software to look at the relationship between job satisfaction, stress levels and coping strategies in health care assistants. The questionnaires were all done online either using a phone or computer. Using SPSS, several statistical analyses were conducted on the data which included a Pearson's correlation, multiple regression and lastly an independent samples t-test.

Demographic variables include employment status (currently employed or unemployed), how long they have been in occupation (0-5, 6-10, 11-15 or 15+ years) amount of hours they worked a week on average (0-15, 15-30, 30-45 or 45+), gender which was either male or female and lastly age which had to be entered as a number.

For the first hypothesis, the variables which include perceived stress levels, coping scores and job satisfaction scores are neither dependent nor independent variables as the

study aims to look at their relationship. For the second hypothesis, the predictor variable (PV) is high stress levels whilst the criterion variable (CV) is low job satisfaction levels. For the third hypothesis, stress levels and job satisfaction scores are the dependent variables (DV) and coping scores is the independent variable (IV).

The statistical analysis conducted on the study include: for hypothesis one, a Pearson's correlations test to investigate a liner relationship between any of the two variables on coping, stress & job satisfaction variables after normality tests showed that they were normally distributed. For hypothesis two, a multiple regression analysis was done to determine if stress predicts job satisfaction scores. Lastly, for the third hypothesis, an independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there will be a difference in levels of stress between those with a dominant avoidant coping strategy or a dominant approach coping strategy.

Procedure

Once the research proposal had been accepted by the National College of Ireland ethics committee and permission sought and granted by the administrator of the HCA & Carers Ireland group page (see Appendix A and B), the questionnaires including the demographics questionnaire, the Perceived Stress Scale-14, the Brief COPE and the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire were entered onto a Google Forms survey account.

A link was then obtained for the pilot study which was then emailed to four participants who were recruited using convenience non-random sampling. The reason for this was to get feedback on the questionnaires and their difficulty as well as estimating the time it would take for the questionnaires to be completed by the participants in the study. Verbal feedback received included a few tweaks on the layout to make it flow better as well as the length of it would take the participants on average. It was decided that 10 minutes will be enough time for participants to engage and complete the study online.

Once the go-ahead was given, the post was put up on the HCA & Carers Ireland group page where participants were able to engage in the study voluntarily and anonymous. This was done by logging into their Facebook account either from a phone, tablet or computer using their own credentials. Participants were either able to see the post containing the survey link on their newsfeed or by going directly to the HCA & Carers Ireland group page. The post contained general information regarding the study (see Appendix I) and should they wish to continue with the study, they were asked to click on the link provided that will bring them to the more detailed page about the study. This information page contained details such as name of researcher and why they were conducting the study, target audience, aims of the study, length of time it will take to complete, consent that they were over 18 years old, how the data will be handled and stored as well as contact details for support. It mentioned that participation was voluntary, and all data collected will be anonymous (see Appendix C). They were also asked to complete a consent form (see Appendix D) which was used to document all participants willingness to take part in the study. On it, they will be asked to confirm that they are over 18 years old, have read the information sheet, know the purpose of the study and had opportunity to ask any questions. Once they were happy to continue and given their consent, participants were presented with the rest of the questionnaires in the following order: demographics questionnaire, the Perceived Stress Scale-14, the Brief COPE and lastly the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire used to measure employee's satisfaction (see Appendix E, F, G and H). The questionnaires were completed by participants ticking the relevant checkboxes or entering a number for age when prompted. In order to move onto the next questionnaire, one had to complete all questions in the current page of that section.

Once the participant had reached the end of the survey, they were presented with a debrief sheet page which thanked them for taking part, reminded them on the aims of the study, how data will be used and stored and support contact details should they need help (see Appendix I).

The post was refreshed twice by posting it as a new post to enhance exposure and multiple comments made to keep it on the most recent activity of the group. It was live for three weeks until the sample size was reached, and the survey link deactivated so as not to receive any more responses.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive data analysis was conducted on one hundred and thirty-seven questionnaires that were completed by health care assistants in Ireland and collected for the study purpose of this study. This included a sample of 10 men (7.3%) and the rest were female (n = 127; 92.7%). Frequencies scores were collected on the demographic variables: employment status, occupation length, hours worked a week and gender as seen on table 2 below. An analysis on age variable was done to determine the means (M), median (MD), range, standard deviation (SD) and variance as seen on table 3.

Preliminary analyses were conducted to satisfy the assumption of normality by inspecting the Q-Q plots total scores of perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction scores were. The data was found to be normally distributed and frequencies scored collected as seen on table 4.

Variable	Frequency	Percent	_
Employment Status:			
Employed	129	94.2	
Unemployed	8	5.8	
Occupation length (years):			
0-5	72	52.6	
6-10	25	18.2	
11-15	16	11.7	

Table 2. Frequencies for the current sample of health care assistants on each demographic variable (N = 137)

15+	24	17.5
Hours worked a week		
0-15	11	8
15-30	39	28.5
30-45	70	51.1
45+	17	12.4
Gender		
Male	127	92.7
Female	10	7.3

Table 3. Descriptive Statistics on Age variable for the sample of Health Care Assistants (N = 137)

Variable	Mean	Median	Range	SD	Variance
Age (years)	41.89	44	44	11.469	131.539

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics of total scores for perceived stress, coping strategies and jobsatisfaction

	Mean (95% Confidence Intervals)	Std. Error Mean	Median	SD	Range
Perceived	30.26 (28.85-	.71	31	8.37	843
Stress	31.68)				
Avoidant	23.42 (22.29-	.57	24	6.71	29
Coping	24.56)				
Approach	28.51 (27.03-	.74	29	8.74	36
Coping	29.99)				
Job	61.34 (58.83-	1.26	61	14.84	80
Satisfaction	63.85)				

Inferential Statistics

Pearson Correlation:

The relationship between perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction levels in HCAs was investigated using Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient.

(Hypothesis 1). Preliminary analyses were performed to ensure no violation of the assumptions of normality, linearity and homoscedasticity. There was a significant, moderate, positive correlation between perceived stress and avoidant coping strategy (r = .43 [95% CI = .29 - .56], n = 137, p < .001). This indicates that the two variables share approximately 18.49% of variance in common. Results indicate that higher levels of perceived stress are associated with higher levels of avoidant coping strategies. A significant, moderate, negative correlation was also found between perceived stress and job satisfaction levels (r = -.37 [95% CI = -.52 - -.20], n = 137, p < .001). This indicate that higher levels of perceived stress are associated with lower levels of job satisfaction scores. Non-significant correlations were found between perceived stress and approach coping strategy, avoidant coping strategy and job satisfaction total and lastly, approach coping strategy and job satisfaction as shown in table 5 below.

	1	2	3	4
1.Perceived	1	.43**	.09	37**
Stress Scale				
total				
2.Avoidant		1	.52**	08
Coping Total				
3.Approach			1	.04
Coping Total				
4.Job				1
Satisfaction				
Total				

 Table 5. Pearson Correlation between variables in the model

Note. Statistical significance: *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Multiple Regression:

Multiple regression analysis was performed to determine how well higher perceived stress levels could be explained by lower job satisfaction scores. (**Hypothesis 2**). Other predictor variables included in the analysis were avoidant coping scores, approach coping scores, age and hours on average worked per week.

Preliminary analyses were conducted to ensure no violation of the assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. The correlations between the predictor variables and the criterion variable included in the study were examined (see Table 6 below for full details). Only perceived stress score variable was significantly correlated with the criterion variable (r = -.37). Tests for multicollinearity also indicated that all Tolerance and VIF values were in an acceptable range. These results indicate that there was no violation of the assumption of multicollinearity and that the data was suitable for examination through multiple linear regression analysis.

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1.Job	1	37	08	.04	.03	.06
Satisfaction						
total						
2.Perecived		1	.43	.09	19	-
Stress total						.04
3Avoidant			1	.52	11	.07
Coping						
total						
4.Approach				1	05	.05
Coping						
total						
5.Age (in					1	-
years)						.05
6.Hours						1
worked a						_
week						

Table 6. Correlations between variables in the regression model

Since no a priori hypotheses had been made to determine the order of entry of the predictor variables, a direct method was used for the analysis. The five predictor variables

explained 14.9% of variance in job satisfaction levels (F(5, 131) = 4.61, p < .001). Only perceived stress score total was found to uniquely predict job satisfaction levels to a statistically significantly level: perceived stress = (β = -.41, p < .001) (see Table 7 for full details).

Variable	β	В	SEB	Cl 95% (B)
Perceived Stress total	41	.72	.16	-1.04 /40
Avoidant Coping total	.06	.13	.23	33 / .60
Approach Coping total	.05	.09	.16	24 / .41
Age (in years)	03	- .04	.10	25 / .17
Hours worked a week	.04	.71	1.52	-2.29 / 3.71
R^2	.14***			
F	4.60***			

 Table 7. Correlations between variables in the regression model

Note. R2 = R-squared; β = standardized beta value; B = unstandardized beta value; SE B = Standard errors of B; CI 95% (B) = 95% confidence interval for B; N = 331; Statistical significance: *p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001

Independent Samples T-test

An independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there will be a

difference in levels of stress between those with a dominant avoidant coping strategy or a

dominant approach coping strategy. (**Hypothesis 3**). Preliminary analyses were conducted to satisfy the assumption of normality by inspecting the Q-Q plots and assumption of homogeneity of variance was satisfied by assessing the Levene's Test for Equality of Variances where p > .05. There was a significant difference in scores as seen on table 8 below, with approach strategy (M = 29.32, SD = 8.11) scoring significantly lower than avoidant strategy (M = 36.52, SD = 8.16), t (117) = 3.82, p <.001, two-tailed. The magnitude of the differences in the means (mean difference = 7.20, 95% CI: 3.46 to 10.93) was large (Cohen's d = .88). The results suggest that individuals with a more dominant approach coping strategy tend to have lower levels of stress as compared to ones with a more dominant avoid coping strategy.

Table 8. Independent Samples test showing differences between Avoid and Approach copingstyles in relation to Total Stress levels

	Av	C oidant	Coping	g Style Ap	proach	1	95% CI for Mean				
	М	SD	N	M	SD	N	Difference	t	df	р	Cohens d
Perceived Stress total	36.52	8.16	23	29.32	8.11	96	3.46, 10.93	3.82	117	.000	.88

A second independent samples t-test was conducted to determine if there will be a difference in levels of job satisfaction between those with a dominant avoidant coping strategy or a dominant approach coping strategy. Preliminary analyses were conducted to satisfy the assumption of normality by inspecting the Q-Q plots and assumption of homogeneity of variance was satisfied by assessing the Levene's Test for Equality of Variances where p > .05. Although there was a non-significant difference in job satisfaction scores as seen on table 9 below, avoid strategy (M = 57.04, SD = 14.15) was found to score lower than approach strategy (M = 61.71, SD = 14.89), t (117) = -1.36, p = .176, two-tailed. The magnitude of the differences in the means (mean difference = -4.67, 95% CI: -11.45 to

2.12) was small (Cohen's d = .32). The results suggest that there is no difference in job satisfaction levels between individuals with a more dominant approach coping strategy or ones with a more dominant avoid coping strategy.

Table 9. Independent Samples test showing differences between Avoid and Approach copingstyles in relation to Job Satisfaction levels

	Av	C oidant	Style Ar	proach	95% CI for Mean						
	М	SD	N	М	SD	N	Difference	t	df	р	Cohens d
Job Satis. Total	57.04	14.15	23	61.71	14.89	96	-11.45, 2.12	- 1.36	117	.176	.32

Discussion

The main objective of this study was to look at the relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs. Its' aims were to (1) investigate the relationship between perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction levels in HCAs, (2) determine if stress levels could predict outcomes on measures of job satisfaction among HCAs, and (3) determine if different coping strategies differentially effect outcomes on measures of stress and job-satisfaction. Based on previous research, it was hypothesised that (1) there would be a significant relationship between perceived stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction among HCAs, and (3) there would be significant differences in levels of stress and job satisfaction between those with high versus low scores on a measure of coping.

As mentioned previously, most of previous similar studies done on health care professions and investigating stress, coping and job satisfaction have concentrated on physicians, general practitioners, radiographers and nurses (O'Sullivan, Keane & Murphy, 2005; Sehlen et al., 2009; Jordan, Khubchandani & Wiblishauser, 2016), and very limited research on health care assistants and so most of the comparisons for this study was done against such groups.

Results for hypothesis one suggests that a statistically significant relationship was found between perceived stress and avoidant coping and perceived stress and job satisfaction levels. This suggests that HCAs who have high levels of perceived stress are also more likely to have high levels of avoidant coping strategies. Also, HCAs that measured to have high levels of stress are stipulated to also have low job satisfaction levels. This finding is quite consistent with most similar research findings such as Gellis (2002) that was investigating the role of both occupational stress, and two coping methods in predicting job satisfaction among health care professionals and Kaarna, Polluste, Lepnurm and Thetloff (2004) which was investigating hospital's employees' satisfaction and factors that might impact it which included stress. Gellis's study found that avoidance coping scores positively correlated with Job Stress Index but negatively correlated with job satisfaction scores and as perceived stress levels increased, job satisfaction decreased. Non-significant correlational findings were also found between: perceived stress levels and approach coping strategy which supports Lazarus's & Folkman (1984) theory that approach coping is used more than avoidant in stressful conditions, and between both coping strategies, (avoidant and approach) and job satisfaction levels which is not entirely consistent with previous similar research (Golbasi, Kelleci & Dogan, 2008; Kang & Kim, 2014). Kaarna et.al found a significant negative correlation between stress and job satisfaction, similar to the current study.

In addition to stress correlating with job satisfaction as mentioned above, a regression analysis conducted for hypothesis two also found that high stress levels significantly predicted low job satisfaction scores. Also, compared to other variables, the beta coefficient for perceived stress levels had the greatest influence on job satisfaction. This is almost similar to a survey done on Irish (The Irish Nurses Organisation The National Council of Nurses of Ireland, 1993). The survey reported that these stress levels could be attributed to nurses' workloads, nature of the job where nurses who were unsuited for the role were dissatisfied or high levels of the job itself caused the dissatisfaction and career development. These factors can be applied to the present study whereby high turnover of HCAs and absenteeism leads to bigger workloads for present HCAs, inadequate training and lack of standardization of the HCA role could mean employees being recruited that are not suitable and end up being dissatisfied and lastly, a lack of a defined career progression with defined grades and promotion also causes unhappiness. Like the current study, Gellis's (2002) study also found that perceived stress was the highest contributor to job satisfaction in a study investigating coping with occupational stress amongst social workers and nurses. The other variables in the analysis were two coping methods; problem-focused and emotion-focused, age, gender, education, job tenure, occupation and avoidance. Also, it has been long known that excessive work stress levels can lead onto job dissatisfaction (Gottlieb, 1997).

The third hypothesis analysis found that HCAs more likely to use approach coping (M = 29.32) have significantly lower levels of perceived stress in comparison to ones using avoidant coping (M = 36.52). This finding is very consistent with prior research some of which is mentioned in within the literature review above. Previous studies have also found that health workers who use more active coping approaches, such as approach coping in this study, were able to deal with stress more effectively and as a result, improve their work performance and individual functioning (Folkman, 1997; Janssen, De Jonge & Bakker, 1999; Milne & Watkins, 1986).

Somewhat surprising from the findings is that the beta coefficient for perceived stress levels was significantly larger than the coefficient for either of the coping methods. This was surprising due to previous research that have suggested that coping could potentially be a much more important than the amount of stress itself (Latack & Havlovic, 1992; Lazarus & Folkman,1984). However, in this study it appears that the levels of perceived stress had the greatest impact on job satisfaction using regression analysis and using correlation, there was non-significant correlations between both coping strategies and job satisfaction.

Another interesting and somewhat surprising finding is that there was a nonsignificant correlation between perceived stress levels and approach coping strategy. This is mainly due to previous research that has suggested that people who mainly use approach strategies such as strategic planning, active coping and positive reinterpretation experience less stress compared to people who use strategies such as denial, behavioural and mental disengagement that are associated more with avoidant coping strategy, experience more stress. (Kumanova & Karastoyanov, 2013).

Limitations

As mainly found in this type of studies, it is not uncommon to raise more questions that answering them. For example, in this study, causal ordering of the variables could raise questions such as, 'Does the type of coping strategy used cause the individual to have low or high perceived stress levels?'. It could also be argued that rather than job satisfaction being a variable, it could also be a potential job stressor.

Studies of this nature should also be interpreted with caution regarding generalizing the findings to the entire population in this case, of HCAs in Ireland. This is due to the participants engaging in the survey voluntarily rather than controlled, they could be more or less stressed, different ways of coping and levels of job satisfaction which might affect the findings. Also, only participants with Facebook accounts and able to see the post at the time it was posted were able to engage in the survey meaning they were unable to partake in it if one had not joined the HCAs Carers Facebook page, did not have an account or was not active at the time the survey was live.

With the questionnaires also being self-reported, it is a possibility that the participants might have answered with more acceptable responses hence a bias in the research. A workaround to this would have been using interviews though it might not have been feasible due to the number of responses required for the effect sizes.
Finally, there was a very low participation response rate from male HCAs leading there to be a huge difference between the two genders. This was despite two appeals on Facebook urging more male HCAs to take part.

Implications of the present study for future research

Though some of the above results in this current study were found to be nonsignificant and inconclusive, overall, they are mostly consistent with the hypotheses and support previous research as discussed above. This is that HCAs are subject to a number of stressful situations due to the nature of their role for example when dealing with patients with chronic palliative illnesses together with their families, challenging workloads and lack of job control which also is related with how they cope and their job satisfaction levels. As a result, the current study in addition to providing a more in-depth relationship research of the HCAs stress levels, coping strategies and job satisfaction, should be regarded as an important topic for as many similar future research studies as possible. This is so as to get a better understanding of the impact it has on HCAs in regard to the prevention of stress, coping strategies, increasing job satisfaction levels at work, issues they face and how it all relates. This is especially important seeing as its been reported that the demand for healthcare in Ireland is projected to increase rapidly as mentioned in the literature review above. This is despite it currently already being unmet as a result of lack of enough health care workers with HCAs being a major part of the workforce due to the projected demand (Wren et al., 2017) and the very limited research in this area at the moment, hence the need for this study.

Several recommendations for future research also include getting a bigger male response rate which is more or less equal to the female HCAs and looking at gender differences in regard to stress levels and coping strategies. Previous studies have consistently found that women report higher levels of chronic and daily stressors compared to men (Ptacek, Smith & Zanas, 1992; Tamres, Janicki & Helgeson, 2002). These studies also supported dispositional level hypothesis that women are more likely to use more emotionfocused coping strategies like talking to others, ruminating and seeking emotional support whilst men rated problem-focused strategies higher. As a result, it would be interesting to investigate if the above are also relative in HCAs.

Future studies could also investigate if there are differences between full-time and part-time HCAs or having permanent contracts versus temporary in levels of stress and it could be hypothesised that those who are temporary or part-time will have higher stress levels as they might have less job control function.

Also, personal attitudes in regard to coping strategies should be researched further in the health care profession depending on the work contexts to investigate if they are interpreted universally. Coping skills in work environments could potentially be improved by providing stress-reduction alternatives such as meditation, yoga class, team building and promoting group discussions and communication.

Conclusion

The purpose of this study was to investigate the relationship between stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction in HCAs. Despite the HCA role being vital in the health care work force in Ireland, it is very limited with most concentrating on other occupations such as nurses, general practitioners and radiographers. With a growing demand for care mainly due to the growing elderly population, there is an even greater need to understand the relationship that stress, coping strategies and job satisfaction have on HCAs so as to curb issues that might otherwise put a strain on being able to meet this demand. This study found a significant relationship between stress and avoidant coping, stress and job satisfaction, that high stress levels predicted low job satisfaction and lastly that the more dominant the approach strategy

is, the lower the stress levels. Although more research in this area is required, the current paper contributes to this area of much needed investigation and provides various constructs to be examined.

References

- (MSQ) Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire | Vocational Psychology Research. (2020). Retrieved 17 January 2020, from http://vpr.psych.umn.edu/instruments/msq-minnesotasatisfaction-questionnaire
- Bach, S., Kessler, I., & Heron, P. (2008). Role redesign in a modernised NHS: the case of health care assistants. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 18(2), 171-187. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-8583.2007.00066.x
- Bach, S., Kessler, I., & Heron, P. (2012). Nursing a Grievance? The Role of Healthcare
 Assistants in a Modernized National Health Service. *Gender, Work & Organization*, 19(2), 205-224. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0432.2009.00502.x
- Backé, E., Seidler, A., Latza, U., Rossnagel, K., & Schumann, B. (2011). The role of psychosocial stress at work for the development of cardiovascular diseases: a systematic review. *International Archives Of Occupational And Environmental Health*, 85(1), 67-79. doi: 10.1007/s00420-011-0643-6
- Berdes, C., & Eckert, J. (2007). The Language of Caring: Nurse's Aides' Use of Family Metaphors Conveys Affective Care. *The Gerontologist*, 47(3), 340-349. doi: 10.1093/geront/47.3.340
- Blendon, R., & Desroches, C. (2003). Future Health Care Challenges. Issues In Science And Technology, 19(4). Retrieved from https://issues.org/blendon/
- Boumans, N., & Landeweerd, J. (1996). A Dutch study of the effects of primary nursing on job characteristics and organizational processes. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 24(1), 16-23. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1996.01542.x

- Brešić, J., Knežević, B., Milošević, M., Tomljanović, T., Golubović, R., & Mustajbegović, J.
 (2007). Stress and Work Ability in Oil Industry Workers. Archives Of Industrial Hygiene
 And Toxicology, 58(4), 399-405. doi: 10.2478/v10004-007-0032-4
- Brief-COPE NovoPsych Psychometrics. (2018). Retrieved 2 February 2020, from https://novopsych.com.au/assessments/brief-cope/
- Bullock, H., & Waugh, I. (2004). Caregiving Around the Clock: How Women in Nursing Manage Career and Family Demands. *Journal Of Social Issues*, 60(4), 767-786. doi: 10.1111/j.0022-4537.2004.00385.x
- Carver, C. (1997). You want to measure coping but your protocol' too long: Consider the brief cope. *International Journal Of Behavioral Medicine*, 4(1), 92-100. doi: 10.1207/s15327558ijbm0401_6
- Castle, N., Engberg, J., Anderson, R., & Men, A. (2007). Job Satisfaction of Nurse Aides in Nursing Homes: Intent to Leave and Turnover. *The Gerontologist*, 47(2), 193-204. doi: 10.1093/geront/47.2.193
- Cheng, C., Kogan, A., & Chio, J. (2012). The effectiveness of a new, coping flexibility intervention as compared with a cognitive-behavioural intervention in managing work stress. *Work & Stress*, *26*(3), 272-288. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2012.710369
- Cieslak, R., Knoll, N., & Luszczynska, A. (2007). Reciprocal relations among job demands, job control, and social support are moderated by neuroticism: A cross-lagged analysis. *Journal Of Vocational Behavior*, *71*(1), 84-96. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2007.03.001
- Clarke, E. (2001). Role conflicts & coping strategies in caregiving. A symbolic interactionist view. *Journal Of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services*, *39*(1), 28.

- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A Global Measure of Perceived Stress. *Journal Of Health And Social Behavior*, 24(4), 385. doi: 10.2307/2136404
- Compas, B., Malcarne, V., & Fondacaro, K. (1988). Coping with stressful events in older children and young adolescents. *Journal Of Consulting And Clinical Psychology*, 56(3), 405-411. doi: 10.1037/0022-006x.56.3.405
- Cranwell-Ward, J., & Abbey, A. (2005). *Organizational STRESS* (pp. 27-29). New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Cummins, R. (1990). Job Stress and the Buffering Effect of Supervisory Support. *Group & Organization Studies*, *15*(1), 92-104. doi: 10.1177/105960119001500107
- Curry, S., & Russ, S. (1985). Identifying Coping Strategies in Children. Journal Of Clinical Child Psychology, 14(1), 61-69. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp1401_10
- D'Hondt, A., Kaasalainen, S., Prentice, D., & Schindel Martin, L. (2011). Bathing residents with dementia in long-term care: critical incidents described by personal support workers. *International Journal Of Older People Nursing*, 7(4), 253-263. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-3743.2011.00283.x
- Dawson, A., Stasa, H., Roche, M., Homer, C., & Duffield, C. (2014). Nursing churn and turnover in Australian hospitals: nurses perceptions and suggestions for supportive strategies. *BMC Nursing*, 13(1). doi: 10.1186/1472-6955-13-11
- Diamond, T. (1992). *Making Gray Gold: Narratives of Nursing Home Care*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Dombeck, M. (2006). Coping Strategies and Defense Mechanisms: Basic and Intermediate Defenses. Retrieved 4 December 2019, from https://www.mentalhelp.net/articles/copingstrategies-and-defense-mechanisms-basic-and-intermediate-defenses
- Drury, V., Craigie, M., Francis, K., Aoun, S., & Hegney, D. (2013). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, anxiety, depression and stress in registered nurses in Australia:
 Phase 2 results. *Journal Of Nursing Management*, 22(4), 519-531. doi: 10.1111/jonm.12168
- Duclay, E., Hardouin, J., Sébille, V., Anthoine, E., & Moret, L. (2014). Exploring the impact of staff absenteeism on patient satisfaction using routine databases in a university hospital. *Journal Of Nursing Management*, 23(7), 833-841. doi: 10.1111/jonm.12219
- Ebata, A., & Moos, R. (1991). Coping and adjustment in distressed and healthy adolescents. *Journal Of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *12*(1), 33-54. doi: 10.1016/0193-3973(91)90029-4
- Embriaco, N., Papazian, L., Kentish-Barnes, N., Pochard, F., & Azoulay, E. (2007). Burnout syndrome among critical care healthcare workers. *Current Opinion In Critical Care*, 13(5), 482-488. doi: 10.1097/mcc.0b013e3282efd28a
- Estabrooks, C., Squires, J., Carleton, H., Cummings, G., & Norton, P. (2015). Who is
 Looking After Mom and Dad? Unregulated Workers in Canadian Long-Term Care
 Homes. *Canadian Journal On Aging / La Revue Canadienne Du Vieillissement*, 34(1),
 47-59. doi: 10.1017/s0714980814000506
- European Agency for Safety and Health at Work:. (2007). *Expert forecast on emerging psychosocial risks related to occupational safety and health*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. Retrieved from

https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/report-expert-forecast-emerging-psychosocialrisks-related-occupational-safety-and

- Finset, A., Steine, S., Haugli, L., Steen, E., & Laerum, E. (2002). The Brief Approach/Avoidance Coping Questionnaire: Development and validation. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 7(1), 75-85. doi: 10.1080/13548500120101577
- Folkman, S. (1997). Positive psychological states and coping with severe stress. *Social Science & Medicine*, 45(8), 1207-1221. doi: 10.1016/s0277-9536(97)00040-3
- Foner, N. (1995). *Caregiving Dilemma: Work in an American Nursing Home*. New York: University of California Press.
- Fortes-Ferreiera, L., Peiro, J., Gonzales-Morales, M., & Martin, I. (2006). Work-related stress and well-being: The roles of direct action coping and palliative coping. *Scandinavian Journal Of Psychology*, 47(4), 293-302. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2006.00519.x
- Fortney, L., Luchterhand, C., Zakletskaia, L., Zgierska, A., & Rakel, D. (2013). Abbreviated Mindfulness Intervention for Job Satisfaction, Quality of Life, and Compassion in Primary Care Clinicians: A Pilot Study. *The Annals Of Family Medicine*, *11*(5), 412-420. doi: 10.1370/afm.1511
- Foss, B., & Dyrstad, S. (2011). Stress in obesity: Cause or consequence?. *Medical Hypotheses*, 77(1), 7-10. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2011.03.011
- Fryers, T., Melzer, D., & Jenkins, R. (2003). Social inequalities and the common mental disorders. *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 38(5), 229-237. doi: 10.1007/s00127-003-0627-2

Gass, T. (2005). Nobody's home. Ithaca, N.Y.: Cornell University Press.

- Gellis, Z. (2002). Coping with Occupational Stress in Healthcare. *Administration In Social Work*, 26(3), 37-52. doi: 10.1300/j147v26n03_03
- Glyshaw, K., Cohen, L., & Towbes, L. (1989). Coping strategies and psychological distress:
 Prospective analyses of early and middle adolescents. *American Journal Of Community Psychology*, 17(5), 607-623. doi: 10.1007/bf00922638
- Golbasi, Z., Kelleci, M., & Dogan, S. (2008). Relationships between coping strategies, individual characteristics and job satisfaction in a sample of hospital nurses: Crosssectional questionnaire survey. *International Journal Of Nursing Studies*, 45(12), 1800-1806. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2008.06.009

Gottlieb, B. (1997). Coping with Chronic Stress. New York, NY: Plenum Press.

- Graham, C., Ballard, C., & Sham, P. (1997). Carers' knowledge of dementia, their coping strategies and morbidity. *International Journal Of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *12*(9), 931-936. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1099-1166(199709)12:9<931::aid-gps666>3.3.co;2-#
- Gray-Toft, P., & Anderson, J. (1985). Organizational stress in the hospital: development of a model for diagnosis and prediction. *Health Services Research*, 6(1), 753–774.
- Gustafsson, G., Norberg, A., & Strandberg, G. (2008). Meanings of becoming and being burnout - phenomenological-hermeneutic interpretation of female healthcare personnel's narratives. *Scandinavian Journal Of Caring Sciences*, 22(4), 520-528. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2007.00559.x
- Halpin, Y., Terry, L., & Curzio, J. (2017). A longitudinal, mixed methods investigation of newly qualified nurses' workplace stressors and stress experiences during transition. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 73(11), 2577-2586. doi: 10.1111/jan.13344

- Health Education England. (2015). Raising the bar. Shape of caring: A review of the future education and training of registered nurses and care assistants.. London: Health
 Education England. Retrieved from
 https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/2348-Shape-of-caring-review-FINAL.pdf
- Healy, C. (2015). These are the 24 biggest issues faced by carers in Ireland. *Thejournal.Ie*. Retrieved from https://www.thejournal.ie/home-care-workers-proposed-guidelines-2474644-Nov2015/
- Heraclides, A., Chandola, T., Witte, D., & Brunner, E. (2009). Psychosocial Stress at Work
 Doubles the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes in Middle-Aged Women: Evidence from the
 Whitehall II Study. *Diabetes Care*, *32*(12), 2230-2235. doi: 10.2337/dc09-0132
- Herman-Stabl, M., Stemmler, M., & Petersen, A. (1995). Approach and avoidant coping:
 Implications for adolescent mental health. *Journal Of Youth And Adolescence*, 24(6), 649-665. doi: 10.1007/bf01536949
- Hertting, A., Nilsson, K., Theorell, T., & Sätterlund Larsson, U. (2005). Assistant nurses in the Swedish healthcare sector during the 1990s: A hard-hit occupational group with a tough job. *Scandinavian Journal Of Public Health*, *33*(2), 107-113. doi: 10.1080/14034940410019154
- Hilton, M., Whiteford, H., Sheridan, J., Cleary, C., Chant, D., Wang, P., & Kessler, R. (2008). The Prevalence of Psychological Distress in Employees and Associated
 Occupational Risk Factors. *Journal Of Occupational And Environmental Medicine*, 50(7), 746-757. doi: 10.1097/jom.0b013e31817e9171

- Holton, M., Barry, A., & Chaney, J. (2016). Employee stress management: An examination of adaptive and maladaptive coping strategies on employee health. *Work*, 53(2), 299-305. doi: 10.3233/wor-152145
- HSE. (2018). *Review of Role and Function of Health Care Assistants*. HSE. Retrieved from https://www.hse.ie/eng/staff/resources/hrstrategiesreports/health-care-assistant-review-final-report-2018.pdf
- Janssen, P., De Jonge, J., & Bakker, A. (1999). Specific determinants of intrinsic work motivation, burnout and turnover intentions: a study among nurses. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, 29(6), 1360-1369. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.1999.01022.x
- Jones, A. (2001). Caring Labor and Class Consciousness: The Class Dynamics of Gendered Work. *JSTOR*, *16*(2), 281-299.
- Jordan, T., Khubchandani, J., & Wiblishauser, M. (2016). The Impact of Perceived Stress and Coping Adequacy on the Health of Nurses: A Pilot Investigation. *Nursing Research And Practice*, 2016, 1-11. doi: 10.1155/2016/5843256
- Kaarna, M., Polluste, K., Lepnurm, R., & Thetloff, M. (2004). The progress of reforms: Job satisfaction in a typical hospital in Estonia. *International Journal For Quality In Health Care*, 16(3), 253-261. doi: 10.1093/intqhc/mzh042
- Kang, S., & Kim, Y. (2014). Effects of job stress and coping behaviour on job satisfaction in Korean male nurses. *Journal Of Nursing Education And Practice*, 4(11). doi: 10.5430/jnep.v4n11p66
- Karasek, R. (1979). Job Demands, Job Decision Latitude, and Mental Strain: Implications for Job Redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 24(2), 285. doi: 10.2307/2392498

- Karasek, R., & Theorell, T. (1991). Healthy Work: Stress, Productivity, and the Reconstruction of Working Life. Robert Karasek, Töres Theorell. *The Quarterly Review Of Biology*, 66(4), 525-526. doi: 10.1086/417423
- Kessler, I., Heron, P., Dopson, S., Magee, H., Swain, D., & Askham, J. (2010). Nature and Consequences of Support Workers in a Hospital Setting.. NIHR Service Delivery and Organisation programme. Retrieved from

http://www.netscc.ac.uk/netscc/hsdr/files/project/SDO_FR_08-1619-155_V01.pdf

- Koeske, G., Kirk, S., & Koeske, R. (1993). Coping with job stress: Which strategies work best?. *Journal Of Occupational And Organizational Psychology*, 66(4), 319-335. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.1993.tb00542.x
- Koinis, A., Giannou, V., Drantaki, V., Angelaina, S., Stratou, E., & Saridi, M. (2015). The impact of healthcare workers job environment on their mental-emotional health. Coping strategies: the case of a local general hospital. *Health Psychology Research*, *3*(1). doi: 10.4081/hpr.2015.1984
- Kumanova, M., & Karastoyanov, G. (2013). Perceived Stress and Coping Strategies. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/332466379_Perceived_Stress_and_Coping_Str ategies
- Landsbergis, P. (1988). Occupational stress among health care workers: A test of the job demands-control model. *Journal Of Organizational Behavior*, *9*(3), 217-239. doi: 10.1002/job.4030090303

- Latack, J., & Havlovic, S. (1992). Coping with job stress: A conceptual evaluation
 framework for coping measures. *Journal Of Organizational Behavior*, *13*(5), 479-508.
 doi: 10.1002/job.4030130505
- Lazarus, R., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer.
- Lijana, Z., Pahor, M., & Bilban, M. (2005). Identification of population groups at very high risk for frequent perception of stress in slovenia. *Croatian Medical Journal*, 46(1), 137-45.
- McCarty, R. (2016). The Fight-or-Flight Response. *Stress: Concepts, Cognition, Emotion, And Behavior*, 33-37. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-800951-2.00004-2
- McKenna, H., Hasson, F., & Keeney, S. (2004). Patient safety and quality of care: the role of the health care assistant. *Journal Of Nursing Management*, 12(6), 452-459. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2834.2004.00514.x
- McKenna, H., Keeney, S., & Hasson, F. (2005). Views on the ground: teaching and clinical assessors' views on vocational training for healthcare assistants in Ireland. *Journal Of Clinical Nursing*, 14(4), 426-434. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2004.01059.x
- McVicar, A. (2003). Workplace stress in nursing: a literature review. *Journal Of Advanced Nursing*, *44*(6), 633-642. doi: 10.1046/j.0309-2402.2003.02853.x
- Mikkelsen, A., Øgaard, T., & Landsbergis, P. (2005). The effects of new dimensions of psychological job demands and job control on active learning and occupational health. *Work & Stress*, 19(2), 153-175. doi: 10.1080/02678370500167808

- Milne, D., & Watkins, F. (1986). An evaluation of the effects of shift rotation on nurses' stress, coping and strain. *International Journal Of Nursing Studies*, 23(2), 139-146. doi: 10.1016/0020-7489(86)90004-0
- Mininel, V., Baptista, P., & Felli, V. (2011). Psychic workloads and strain processes in nursing workers of brazilian university hospitals. *Revista Latino-Americana De Enfermagem*, 19(2), 340-347. doi: 10.1590/s0104-11692011000200016
- Nam, S., Chun, H., Moon, J., Park, S., Hwang, Y., & Yoo, I. et al. (2016). Job Stress and Job Satisfaction among Health-Care Workers of Endoscopy Units in Korea. *Clinical Endoscopy*, 49(3), 266-272. doi: 10.5946/ce.2015.085
- O'Regan, E. (2018). A&Es to suffer as nursing homes shut beds over worker shortages. *Independent.Ie*. Retrieved from https://www.independent.ie/irishnews/health/aes-to-suffer-as-nursing-homes-shut-beds-over-worker-shortages-37280271.html
- O'Sullivan, B., Keane, A., & Murphy, A. (2005). Job Stressors and Coping Strategies as Predictors of Mental Health and Job Satisfaction among Irish General Practitioners. *Irish Medical Journal*, 98(7), 199-200, 202. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar_url?url=https://repository.rcsi.com/articles/Job_stresso rs_and_coping_strategies_as_predictors_of_mental_health_and_job_satisfaction_among _Irish_general_practitioners_/10771964/files/19284617.pdf&hl=en&sa=X&scisig=AAG Bfm2hV3D1viN7gCB-EGvja5BhdR363g&nossl=1&oi=scholarr
- Ptacek, J., Smith, R., & Zanas, J. (1992). Gender, Appraisal, and Coping: A Longitudinal Analysis. *Journal Of Personality*, *60*(4), 747-770. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1992.tb00272.x

- Ravenswood, K., Douglas, J., & Teo, S. (2014). *The New Zealand Aged Care Workforce Survey 2014*. Auckland: New Zealand Work Research Institute.
- Schneider, J., Scales, K., Bailey, S., & Lloyd, J. (2010). Challenging care: The role and experience of Health Care Assistants in dementia wards. *National Institute For Health Research, United Kingdom*. Retrieved from https://kar.kent.ac.uk/76514/1/challenging%20care.pdf
- Schwendimann, R., Dhaini, S., Ausserhofer, D., Engberg, S., & Zúñiga, F. (2016). Factors associated with high job satisfaction among care workers in Swiss nursing homes a cross sectional survey study. *BMC Nursing*, *15*(1). doi: 10.1186/s12912-016-0160-8
- Sehlen, S., Vordermark, D., Schäfer, C., Herschbach, P., Bayerl, A., & Pigorsch, S. et al.
 (2009). Job stress and job satisfaction of physicians, radiographers, nurses and physicists working in radiotherapy: a multicenter analysis by the DEGRO Quality of Life Work
 Group. *Radiation Oncology*, 4(1). doi: 10.1186/1748-717x-4-6
- Shiota, M. (2006). Silver linings and candles in the dark: Differences among positive coping strategies in predicting subjective well-being. *Emotion*, 6(2), 335-339. doi: 10.1037/1528-3542.6.2.335
- Spector, P. (1997). Job satisfaction: Application, Assessment, Causes and Consequences.. London: Sage Publications.
- Spilsbury, K., Pender, S., Bloor, K., Borthwick, R., Atkin, K., & McCaughan, D. et al.(2010). Support matters: a mixed methods scoping study on the use of assistant staff in the delivery of community nursing services in England. *NIHR*.

- Subramanian, S., & Kumar, M. (2012). Burn-out and Coping Strategies among Nurses treating HIV/AIDS, Cancer and General Patients. *Journal Of Organisation & Human Behaviour*, 1(3).
- Suleman, Q., & Hussain, I. (2018). Job Satisfaction among Secondary-School-Heads: A Gender Based-Comparative Study. *Education Sciences*, 8(1), 28. doi: 10.3390/educsci8010028
- Tamres, L., Janicki, D., & Helgeson, V. (2002). Sex Differences in Coping Behavior: A Meta-Analytic Review and an Examination of Relative Coping. *Personality And Social Psychology Review*, 6(1), 2-30. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0601_1
- The Irish Nurses Organisation The National Council of Nurses of Ireland. (1993). *The experience of stress amongst Irish nurses*. The Irish Nurses Organisation. Retrieved from https://www.lenus.ie/handle/10147/209729
- Vail, L., Bosley, S., Petrova, M., & Dale, J. (2010). Healthcare assistants in general practice: a qualitative study of their experiences. *Primary Health Care Research & Development*, 12(01), 29-41. doi: 10.1017/s1463423610000204
- van den Berg, T., Alavinia, S., Bredt, F., Lindeboom, D., Elders, L., & Burdorf, A. (2008).
 The influence of psychosocial factors at work and life style on health and work ability among professional workers. *International Archives Of Occupational And Environmental Health*, 81(8), 1029-1036. doi: 10.1007/s00420-007-0296-7
- van den Berg, T., Alavinia, S., Bredt, F., Lindeboom, D., Elders, L., & Burdorf, A. (2008).
 The influence of psychosocial factors at work and life style on health and work ability among professional workers. *International Archives Of Occupational And Environmental Health*, 81(8), 1029-1036. doi: 10.1007/s00420-007-0296-7

- Van Dijk, F., & Swaen, G. (2003). Fatigue at work. Occupational And Environmental Medicine, 60(1).
- Volker, R., Bernhard, B., Anna, K., Fabrizio, S., Robin, R., & Jessica, P. et al. (2010).
 Burnout, coping and job satisfaction in service staff treating opioid addicts-from Athens to Zurich. *Stress And Health*, 26(2), 149-159. doi: 10.1002/smi.1276
- Weiss, G., & Lonnquist, L. (2017). *The Sociology of Health, Healing, and Illness*. Florence: Taylor and Francis.
- WHO; US National Institute of Aging. (2011). *Global health and ageing*. National Institutes of Health. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/ageing/publications/global_health.pdf
- Wittchen, H., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., & Jönsson, B. et al. (2011).
 The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe
 2010. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, 21(9), 655-679. doi:
 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018
- Wren, M., Keegan, C., Walsh, B., Bergin, A., Brick, A., Connolly, S., & Watson, D.
 (2017). PROJECTIONS OF DEMAND FOR HEALTHCARE IN IRELAND, 2015-2030: FIRST REPORT FROM THE HIPPOCRATES MODEL. Dublin: Economic and Social Research Institute. Retrieved from https://www.esri.ie/system/files?file=media/file-uploads/2018-02/RS67.pdf

Yusoff, N., Low, W., & Yip, C. (2010). Reliability and validity of the Brief COPE Scale (English version) among women with breast cancer undergoing treatment of adjuvant chemotherapy: a Malaysian study. *The Medical Journal Of Malaysia*, 65(1), 41-44.
Retrieved from

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/49783822_Reliability_and_validity_of_the_Br

ief COPE Scale English version among women with breast cancer undergoing tre atment of adjuvant chemotherapy a Malaysian study

Appendices

Appendix A: Message requesting for permission to post on the HCA & Carers Ireland page

Hi Alison,

As part of my final year project in Psychology at NCI, I need to undertake a study which required me to have access to a sample of HCAs. The study aims to look at the relationship between stress, coping mechanisms and job satisfaction in carers. Participation in it would be voluntary, anonymous and take about 10 minutes to complete.

I would be very grateful if you could allow me to post a survey link on the page so I could access the carers who would be willing to participate in it once it's been granted ethical approval by the college's ethical review board.

If you could please let me know if its ok to go ahead and post it or you can contact me on 26325121 should you have any questions.

Kind regards,

Winifred.

Appendix B: Permission to post on the HCA & Carers Ireland Facebook page

Hi Winifred,

That is no problem and you can go ahead and post.

Kind regards,

Alison.

Appendix C: Information Sheet

Dear Participant,

My name is Winifred Karanja and I would like to invite you to partake in this study as part of my final year project in Psychology at the National College of Ireland.

The aim of this study is to look at the relationship between work stress levels, coping mechanisms and job satisfaction for health care assistants in Ireland and I am looking for participants who work as carers in Ireland and are over 18 years old to take part in it by answering the following questions. The whole process should take no longer than 10 minutes. Once completed and the study has been closed, all data will be collected and analysed. Incomplete and unusable data will be destroyed in a safe manner and all data will be destroyed after 5 years according to NCI's data policy. The results of the study will be found in my final year thesis project.

This study has been approved by the ethical review board of NCI. Participation is voluntary and completely anonymous so it is not possible to withdraw data after it has been submitted as it has be fully de-identified. By engaging in the study, participants willingly are giving their consent and that they are over 18 years old. You will receive no direct benefits from participating in this research study. However, your responses may help us learn more about the effect that stress has on either coping mechanisms or job satisfaction among health care assistants in Ireland.

All data will be anonymous and stored confidentially and safely to be accessible to me and my course tutor only for analyses purposes.

Should you require support or have any questions relating to this study, please contact me on ncihcastressstudy@gmail.com or my supervisor michelle.kelly@ncirl.ie .

If you are comfortable with the information provided above and are happy to partake in this study, please continue by completing the questionnaire below.

Thank you very much in advance for your interest and participation in this study.

Kind regards,

Winifred.

Appendix D: Consent Form

CONSENT FORM

Please tick all boxes 1. I confirm that I am over 18 years old, have read and understand the information sheet dated attached for the above study. I have had the opportunity to consider the information, ask questions and have had these answered satisfactorily.

2. I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw at any time without giving any reason.

3. I understand that relevant sections of my notes and data collected during the study, may be looked at by individuals from the National College of Ireland, where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records.

4. I agree to take part in the above study.

Appendix E: Demographics questionnaire

1: Are you currently employed and paid to work as a care assistant? □Yes □No

2: How long have you been in this occupation? D-5 years D6-10 years D11-15years D15+years

3: How many hours on average do you work per week? □0-15 □15-30 □30-45 □45+

4: What gender do you identify as? □Male □Female □Prefer not to say

5: What is your age (in years):

Appendix F: Perceived Stress Scale-14

The questions in this scale ask you about your feelings and thoughts during the last month. You will be asked to indicate how you felt or thought. For each question, circle one of the following marked 0-4. [0=never; 1=almost never; 2=sometimes; 3=fairly often; 4=very often]

Note: Items 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, and 13 are scored in reverse direction

1. In the last month, how often have you been upset because of something that happened unexpectedly?

2. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were unable to control important things in your life?

3. In the last month, how often have you felt nervous and "stressed"?

4. In the last month, how often have you dealt successfully with irritating life hassles?

5. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were effectively coping with important changes that were occurring in your life?

6. In the last month, how often have you felt confident about your ability to handle your personal problems?

7. In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?

8. In the last month, how often have you found that you could not cope with all the things that you had to do?

9. In the last month, how often have you been able to control irritations in your life? 10. In the last month, how often have you felt that you were on top of things?

11. In the last month, how often have you been angered because of things that happened that were outside of your control?

12. In the last month, how often have you found yourself thinking about things that you

have to accomplish?

13. In the last month, how often have you been able to control the way you spend your time?

14. In the last month, how often have you felt difficulties were piling up so high that you could not overcome them?

Appendix G: Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire

Ask yourself: How satisfied am I with this aspect of my job?

- 5 = Extremely Satisfied
- 4 = Very Satisfied
- 3 =Satisfied
- 2 = Somewhat Satisfied
- 1 = Not Satisfied

1.Being able to keep busy all the time.

2. The chance to work alone on the job.

3. The chance to do different things from time to time.

4. The chance to be "somebody" in the community.

5. The way my boss handles his/her workers.

6. The competence of my supervisor in making decisions.

7.Being able to do things that don't go against my conscience.

8. The way my job provides for steady employment.

9. The chance to do things for other people.

10. The chance to tell people what to do.

11. The chance to do something that makes use of my abilities.

12. The way company policies are put into practice.

13. My pay and the amount of work I do

- 14. The chances for advancement on this job
- 15. The freedom to use my own judgment
- 16. The chance to try my own methods of doing the job
- 17. The working conditions
- 18. The way my co-workers get along with each other
- 19. The praise I get for doing a good job

20. The feeling of accomplishment I get from the job

Appendix H: Brief COPE Scoring Procedure

The responses are coded in the following manner across all statements:

- 1= I haven't been doing this at all
- 2= I've been doing this a little bit
- 3= I've been doing this a medium amount
- 4= I've been doing this a lot

Brief COPE Scores

Self-Distraction Cope1 + Cope19 (Avoidant)

Active Coping Cope2 + Cope7 (Approach)

Denial Cope3 + Cope8 (Avoidant)

Substance Use Cope4 + Cope11 (Avoidant)

Use of Emotional Support Cope5 + Cope15 (Approach)

Use of Instrumental Support Cope10 + Cope23 (Approach)

Behavioral Disengagement Cope6 + Cope16 (Avoidant)

Venting Cope9 + Cope21 (Avoidant)

Positive Reframing Cope12 + Cope17 (Approach)

Planning Cope14 + Cope25 (Approach)

Humor Cope18 + Cope28 *

Acceptance Cope20 + Cope24 (Approach)

Religion Cope22 + Cope27 *

Self-Blame Cope13 + Cope26 (Avoidant)

*Humor and Religion are neither Approach or Avoidance coping

Appendix I: Facebook Post

Hi All,

My name is Winnie and I am conducting a survey study as part of my final year project in Psychology at NCI that is looking at the relationship between Work Stress Levels, Coping Mechanisms and Job Satisfaction for Health Care Assistants in Ireland. I would really appreciate if you could take a few minutes to complete it by going here: <u>https://forms.gle/PVyvGiy2vyeMWTUx7</u>. Many thanks.

Appendix J: Debrief Sheet

Thank you for participating as a research participant in this study. The main purpose of this study is to look at stress and the relationship with coping mechanisms and job satisfaction in health care assistants.

Data collected will be used for the sole purpose of this current study only whereby a report will be compiled as part of my final year college project. Should you be interested in

receiving a copy of this report or have any queries pertaining to this study, please email ncihcastressstudy@gmail.com.

Should you require support or have been affected as a result of answering questions in this study, please find professional support details below. Otherwise, you can also contact me on ncihcastressstudy@gmail.com or my supervisor michelle.kelly@ncirl.ie if you have any questions.

Samaritans

The Samaritans telephone service is available 24 hours a day.

For confidential, non-judgmental support:

Freephone: 116 123

Text: 087 2 60 90 90 - standard message rates apply

Email: mailto:jo@samaritans.ie

Visit: www.samaritans.ie for details of the nearest branch

Aware

1800 80 48 48 - Available Monday to Sunday from 10am - 10pm.

Email: supportmail@aware.ie - Email at any time. You can expect a response within 24 hours.

Thank you again for your participation in this study.

Kind regards,

Winifred.